
Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

March 25, 2013 
 

Approved as Amended 4/22/2013 1 

6:30 PM Chair Bonser opened the meeting and asked all those present to stand for the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
Members Present: Mary Bonser, Hal Rafter and Mark Carpenter.  
Others: Charles A. Brown, Town Administrator, Dawn Wirkkala, Secretary, Chris Albert, James 
Twombly, Susan Mooney, Celia Abrams, Robin Comeau, Paul Comeau, Cheryl Smith, Mike Russo, 
Clifford Bullock 
MANIFEST SIGNATURE: 
Motion: by Mr. Carpenter, second by Mr. Rafter to approve the 3/25/2013 manifest. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor.   
General Business and Department Reports:  
Highway Department: Mr. Albert presented information to the Selectmen about a possible grant to 
assist in completing the work on the Town Sand Pit Bridge project planned for 2013.  A pre-
application proposal will need to be completed and submitted to NH Department of Environmental 
Services by the end of April for the Aquatic Resource Mitigation Fund Program.  The proposal 
would be for proposed bank stabilization with the new bridge to protect existing wetlands.  Mr. 
Albert asked the Selectmen for permission to complete and return the application to NHDES. 
Chair Bonser stated if grant funds become available for the bridge, it might be possible to complete 
other additional road projects. 
Mr. Rafter asked about the amount of grant money that would be requested.  Mr. Albert stated he 
would request $25,000.00. 
Chair Bonser asked if additional requirements for the bridge would be needed by using the grant 
money, that wouldn’t otherwise be required.  Mr. Albert stated he didn't believe so, but additional 
information regarding the project will be needed if the proposal is selected by NH DES. 
Motion: by Mr. Carpenter, second by Mr. Rafter to allow Mr. Albert permission to complete and 
submit the pre-application for the Aquatic Resource Mitigation Fund Program.  
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor. 
Recreation Department: Mr. Brown reported Ms. Horvath has requested permission to purchase 
new light weight conference tables, replacing the older heavy tables currently in use and a new cart 
for table storage.  The existing tables are in rough shape, breaking and are too heavy for only one 
person to move around, and the existing cart is also in rough shape.  The amount would be shared 
between the recreation revolving fund and administration equipment fund.   
The Selectmen agreed to the joint purchase of new 8 foot tables and a new cart between 
Administration and the Recreation Department. 
Ms. Horvath also was requesting permission to use $200.00 to file a Wetlands Application.  The 
application is required in order to move rocks at the Town Beach, mentioning specifically that the 
large rocks are a potential liability for citizen injury.  Mr. Mark West has been asked to complete 
the application and it was requested that he be the authorized agent for this project. 
Motion: by Mr. Rafter, second by Mr. Carpenter to apply for a Wetlands Permit at the Town Beach 
and to appoint Mr. Mark West as the authorized agent for submitting the application. 
Vote: 3 - 0 in favor. 



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

March 25, 2013 
 

Approved as Amended 4/22/2013 2 

Town Office: Mr. Brown reported there is information coming from other Town Mangers about the 
proposed legislative changes to the gas tax and would like to know if the Selectmen wanted to 
express an opinion regarding the matter. 
Chair Bonser stated she is opposed to the tax if the funds can be taken and used for purposes other 
than the proposed road and bridge maintenance.  It was stated the legislature could change that type 
of requirement at any time. 
Mr. Rafter stated despite already high gas prices the town should support the increase in the tax, and 
asked if the Town was exempt from gas taxes.  Mr. Brown stated he believed the Town is exempt.  
Mr. Rafter stated the money will make its way back to the town; money is either raised to fix the 
roads and bridges or they will be shut down. 
Chair Bonser stated her concern is that the money should be exclusive to road repair and 
maintenance and it isn't what has happened to the funds in the past.   
Mr. Carpenter stated he is irritated with any entity that makes poor choices with specific funds and 
then requires citizens to pay more and make up the difference. 
Mr. Rafter stated he believed the new tax would pass and Mr. Brown agreed.  Chair Bonser stated a 
statement should be sent making mention about using the money for its intended purpose and using 
it wisely. 
Mr. Carpenter stated the roads and bridges need to be maintained.  Mr. Rafter stated Nottingham 
has received funds from the state to help maintain local road and bridges in the past. 
Mr. Rafter stated while the tax has remained level over the past 20 years, the cost for repairs has 
increased. 
The Selectmen decided the answer from the Selectmen would be a split answer, in support because 
of the needed repairs and not in support because of the use of the prior collected monies that were 
spent on things other than the roads. 
Motion: Mr. Carpenter, second by Mr. Rafter to approve and sign the form MS-2. 
Vote: 3 - 0 in favor. 
Mr. Brown stated a request has been received by Mr. Perron to receive minutes and agendas.  The 
Selectmen did not object. 
OUTSTANDING MINUTES:  
Motion: by Mr. Rafter, second by Mr. Carpenter to approve the minutes of the February 11, 2013 
meeting as amended. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor.   
Motion: by Mr. Rafter, second by Mr. Carpenter to approve the minutes of the February 25, 2013 
meeting as amended. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor.   
Motion: by Mr. Rafter, second by Mr. Carpenter to approve the minutes of the March 11, 2013 
meeting as amended. 
Vote: 3 – 0 in favor.   
Ms. Wirkkala stated she received notice about a possible error in the previously approved January 
28, 2013 minutes and requested permission of the Selectmen to verify the information.  The 
Selectmen approved. 
APPOINTMENTS: 7:00 pm: Conservation Commission, 7:15 pm: Robert Sprague, 7:30 pm: None  



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

March 25, 2013 
 

Approved as Amended 4/22/2013 3 

7:00 pm: Ms. Mooney, Ms. Abrams and Mr. Russo spoke about the suggested reading material; NH 
Department of Transportation Snow Removal and Ice Control Policy, the Green SnowPro 
Certification, a UNH study on Salinization of Urbanizing NH Streams and Groundwater: Effects of 
Road Salt and Hydrologic Variability, an LGC article about Salt in Our Waters, and other 
information provided by email. 
Mr. Carpenter stated concerns have been expressed about brine methods, some of which use 
chemicals, not just water and salt.  Mr. Carpenter asked if it was the intent of the request to reduce 
the amount of salt versus uses of alternative chemicals and there was agreement by Conservation 
Commission (CC) members for reduction of salt use. 
Mr. Russo stated over the last several years with more road and traffic studies have shown an 
increased amount of salinization. 
Chair Bonser stated while the amount of road salt being used should be reviewed, she asked about 
the use of salt in water softeners and there was agreement it could also be part of the problem. 
Ms. Abrams stated she believed the bulk of salt problems comes from the use on the roads versus 
home use and if road salt can be reduced it is a good first step.  Chair Bonser stated it also the 
storage of the road salt as well. 
Chair Bonser asked about standards of salt and water quality and Mr. Russo responded there are 
federal health standards and toxic levels.  Mr. Russo stated drinking water quality and sodium 
chloride isn't harmful to humans, only aquatic life.   
Chair Bonser asked about the acceptable levels and if there was any other information the CC 
would bring forward.  Ms. Mooney stated the report discusses all areas of trouble and will have 
additional information as research moves forward.   
Mr. Rafter asked if the State of NH will reduce the amount of salt used on state roads based on a 
Town request and what are surrounding towns doing to address this concern.  It was stated that it 
appears NH DOT will adjust the amounts of salts used on the roads within Town if a request is sent 
by the Selectmen.  It was stated other communities would be contacted, in a mini study, to 
determine how much salt is being used in their communities.  Chair Bonser stated it should be a 
regional approach. 
Mr. Russo stated Nottingham is ahead of other towns with looking at this subject, others are also 
starting the process, but it is still new information.  Ms. Abrams stated they are looking for a 
balance between being safe on the roads and keeping water safe.  Ms. Smith distributed information 
from NHDES stating there may be additional federal funding to assist with finding alternatives. 
Mr. Fernald stated he used approximately 650 to 675 tons of salt during January 2012 to December 
2012; the estimate based on the amount purchased and the amount that remains unused.  Mr. 
Fernald stated the ratio of salt and sand used will be different based on the type of storm received 
and very little salt is used on the dirt roads.  Mr. Fernald stated the Conservation Commission 
should ask what other towns are using for comparison; he asked Strafford and they use 1200 tons 
and Hopkinton used 3000 tons.  Safety is an issue for Road Agents and keeping ahead of the storm 
if possible.  Nottingham does a pretty good job with salt use and keeping roads safe. 
Mr. Carpenter stated the SnowPro information has to do with alternatives to salt and asked about 
establishing a measurable objective.  There was agreement that calibrating the equipment, being 
trained on equipment use and ongoing training will help, but no measurable objective was offered 
and no baseline has been set. 
Mr. Fernald was requested to provide more information about how much salt was used.   



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

March 25, 2013 
 

Approved as Amended 4/22/2013 4 

Chair Bonser asked about the total miles of Town Road and it was stated there was approximately 
50 miles of asphalt roads, parking lots, town areas needing clearing and salt and sand.   
Mr. Fernald stated he did not use salt during the last storm because there was enough remaining 
from the prior storm.  However, it is a different story when roads need plowing and using sand and 
salt, because people are out on the roads at all times during the day and night. 
Mr. Russo stated he would request the LRAC members to gather additional information about 
surrounding towns and their use. 
Ms. Smith stated there are additional concerns about spreading knot weed with the moving and 
spreading of sand and road maintenance.  Mr. Doug Cygan from NH Department of Agriculture 
would be willing to come in and talk about the issue with the severely invasive weed.  Chair Bonser 
asked about herbicide and Ms. Smith stated a license is required to use the herbicide.  The license 
class is run by NHDES Agriculture and Ms. Smith will notify the Town when it will be held during 
the fall.   
Mr. Rafter asked about the potential cost to hire a contractor to spray the herbicide, and the answer 
was unknown and Chair Bonser suggested working on the elimination in a quadrant basis. 
Ms. Mooney asked if further meetings should be scheduled and Chair Bonser stated not at this time, 
information should be shared via email and notice should be sent about class dates. 
7:15 pm: Stevens Hill Road/Mr. and Mrs. Comeau.  Mr. Comeau expressed concern about the road 
condition on Steven Hill Road, with the appearance of more and more problems specifically on the 
Deerfield end.  There are a number of potholes and rocks protruding in the road.  The road 
maintenance is not holding up with the significant traffic and it has been graded down 
approximately 2 to 2 1/2 feet causing problems with driving especially during this wet season. 
Chair Bonser stated this is one of the worst seasons she has seen in a while because of partial thaw 
and then more snow.  Mr. Brown stated the type of winter can lead to what will happen during the 
spring. 
Mrs. Comeau stated the road is now wider, which is nice; however people drive faster and are less 
courteous as they drive. 
Chair Bonser stated people should slow down on the dirt roads and use common sense when 
driving; dirt roads are not the same as paved roads. 
Mr. Rafter stated the increased amount of traffic caused the need to widen the road, unfortunately 
resulting in faster traffic. 
Mr. Fernald stated the hill section is a problem, and the road should be built up in that area, 
although the top of the hill has seen significant improvements.  Mr. Fernald stated significantly 
more stone would be needed to improve the hill area and could be a six week project; stone and 
drainage on both sides of the road will be needed to make significant improvements.  Mr. Fernald 
stated Poor Farm Road needs hill work as well. 
Mr. Carpenter asked if Stevens Hill Road can be added to the road improvement list and Mr. 
Fernald stated he can take some steps to make improvements now, it is on the list, but a lot of 
material will be needed. 
Mr. Fernald stated he has graded the majority of Town Roads since March 1 and work will take 
place in the next couple of weeks. 
Power Contract:  Mr. Brown reported the contract is waiting approval from SAU #44, causing the 
delay. 



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

March 25, 2013 
 

Approved as Amended 4/22/2013 5 

Mr. Carpenter stated an alternative offer has been received and might be something to be 
considered; not as large of a saving, but still a savings. 
Mr. Russo stated for personal use power supply contracts appear to be a great deal, at the beginning, 
but there seems to be an increase in the charge after two or three months and then they will charge 
you a fee if you try to change back to your regular electric company. 
Mr. Carpenter stated the proposed contract is on a larger commercial scale with a guaranteed price 
for 24 months from a large scale distributor. 
Afterschool Program: Chair Bonser stated a letter has been received from Alternate Kids for 
Daycare and their continuing to provide services for the afterschool program.  Chair Bonser 
requested an April 17th joint meeting between the School Board and Selectmen and this topic should 
be added to the agenda.  
Rymes/Fernald Project: Mr. Brown reported the Town has not been served any legal papers from 
the Fernalds or Rymes.  The Town has requested help in resolving the issue with the fire safety 
analysis review. 
Chair Bonser stated there was an announcement at the prior School Board meeting that the Town 
had been served and asked if the Town should respond to the rumor.  Mr. Carpenter stated the issue 
has been cleared up and doesn't need a response. 
Mr. Brown asked who the Chair of the School Board was and the answer was believed to be Sue 
Levenson.  
Public Access Channel: Mr. Carpenter reported the necessary cables were run at the school by 
Comcast on Friday.  The system unknowingly needed to be reset with the changes and nothing was 
broadcasting over the weekend, but it is now working fine.  There has not been a live test of video 
since the change and Ms. Wirkkala would reach out to Kevin Smith at the school to try for a live 
test. 
Selectmen Job Description: The Selectmen reviewed the draft job description provided by Mr. 
Rafter.   
Chair Bonser stated she believed that the job description is a solution in search of problems and 
reviewed her concerns about some of the proposals.  Chair Bonser stated she feels the Selectmen 
should not establish the Agenda and to do so could cause problems.  The Town Administrator 
should continue establishing the Agenda, with input for topics from all Selectmen as needed and as 
it has been done in the past.  Chair Bonser stated she is concerned about Selectmen discussing any 
issues via phone or email giving the impression of holding an un-posted meeting. 
Mr. Rafter stated he believed the Chair should review the agenda before it is posted. 
Mr. Carpenter stated if the agenda is distributed by an outside source on a Friday, it may cause 
trouble by adding additional items at a later time and re-posting the agenda at the town; however, 
there should be an attempt to find the middle ground and get more citizens to participate. 
It was stated the agenda could be changed without causing a problem with the 24 hour notice.   
Mr. Carpenter stated he brings up issues not specifically listed on the agenda during the Other 
Business section and Mr. Brown stated you will never be able to include all items discussed at a 
meeting on the agenda. 
Chair Bonser questioned the job description for managing all board meetings.  Mr. Carpenter stated 
it is only a description of what the Chair does. 



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

March 25, 2013 
 

Approved as Amended 4/22/2013 6 

Chair Bonser stated she believes the Selectmen should vote to determine if they should have a 
liaison to the School Board and information provided by the LGC stated it isn't legal to have an ex-
officio position. 
Mr. Carpenter stated if the Selectmen and School Board continue with quarterly meetings to discuss 
questions, concerns and resolve possible problems, the Selectmen may not need to have a liaison. 
Mr. Rafter stated it isn’t unreasonable or bad to have a liaison or representative.  If the wording ex-
officio isn’t legal, it can be removed from the wording.  The intent is to try and get information to 
and from the School, School Board, SAU, Selectmen and Town. 
Mr. Carpenter stated in the context of a job description, the position with the School Board would 
be to make sure a meeting is held between the two boards on a quarterly basis.   
Chair Bonser stated she doesn't believe there are any additional responsibilities when serving as 
Chair of the BOS and the Chair could serve on any of the committees.  It was stated the Selectmen 
can choose to even serve on a committee for longer than one year; it sometimes takes longer than a 
year to understand the ins and outs of how a board works. 
Mr. Carpenter stated there are four boards the Selectmen are required to be a part of; Budget, 
Planning, Heritage Commission, and the Capital Improvement Program but there are other’s they 
aren’t allowed to be on such as the Conservation Commission, Cemetery Trustees, and others. 
Chair Bonser stated she felt it was the Chair's preference, and not a requirement, to present the 
Budget to the Budget Committee with the Town Administrator and Mr. Rafter agreed the Chair 
wasn’t required to present the information. 
Chair Bonser stated she felt only the Town Administrator should speak to the press; this decision 
was specifically made during the USA Springs issue to prevent distribution of misinformation.  Mr. 
Brown stated depending on the situation, the Selectmen could hold an emergency meeting to 
discuss issue prior to making a statement to the press.  Chair Bonser stated the Town Administrator 
could also poll the Selectmen to present a united front as the Town on an issue. 
Mr. Carpenter asked Chair Bonser about how she discussed issue regarding gun control.  Chair 
Bonser stated she never spoke on behalf of the Board or Town on the issue, only on a personal 
level.  Mr. Carpenter stated the media issue is more sensitive and it is important to identify one 
spokesperson and that primary person should receive training.  Speaking to the press can cause 
trouble by giving information of a private nature that shouldn’t be given, causing more problems 
than solutions. 
Mr. Rafter stated he agrees with training to speak to the press.  Chair Bonser and Mr. Carpenter 
stated the issue of training should be discussed at a later date. 
Mr. Carpenter stated in the spirit of a job description some of the information was fine and in 
addition there might be a consideration for job descriptions for the other Selectmen as well. Chair 
Bonser stated she would contact LGC for potential information about any available job descriptions 
for Selectmen. 
Mr. Rafter stated the other descriptions are to create an article for the newsletter and there was 
general agreement to have a quarterly article in the newsletter. 
Mr. Rafter stated the description is at the discretion of each board and should be reviewed at the 
start of each year.  Future Board members may change what they want to do. 
The Selectmen would continue review and discussion of the job description at the April 22nd 
meeting. 



Minutes 
Nottingham Selectmen’s Meeting 

March 25, 2013 
 

Approved as Amended 4/22/2013 7 

Board Appointments:  The Selectmen reviewed who would be liaisons to Town Boards, 
Committee and Departments. 
Motion: by Mr. Carpenter, second by Chair Bonser to have Hal Rafter be chair of the Selectboard.   
Vote: 3 - 0 in favor. 
Mr. Carpenter stated individual School Board members report on what takes place on other boards 
and committees they are assigned to; providing a summary of those meetings they attended and the 
Selectmen could do the same. 
It was stated typically a Selectmen hasn't been part of the Building Committee, the committee 
typically only reports back to the Selectmen.  Mr. Carpenter stated other citizens should be 
encouraged to become part of Town committees. 
Recycle Center: Mr. Carpenter stated he has reviewed the prior revenue and expenses of the 
recycle center and revenue typically is about 50% of the expense costs to remove the solid waste.  
There is potentially the ability to save tax dollars by increasing the amount of material that is 
recycled.  The information is at the beginning stages and the information is still raw and being 
defined. 
SB167 Large Groundwater Permit Process: Mr. Carpenter stated the Selectmen had minimal 
support from other parties for the bill, the Representatives and Senators did not speak because they 
were needed at their own committee meetings, the lobbyists were able to speak first and the voice of 
the Selectmen was heard last.  Mr. Carpenter stated if the Town wants to continue with a change to 
the statute support must be sought from other towns, NH DES and the lobbyists in order to succeed.  
Language should be drafted as a joint effort between all parties and not by committee members at 
the State House. 
Ms. Bonser stated despite years of dealing with this, the Selectmen can't stop trying.  Mr. Carpenter 
stated the effort was a learning experience for him but a waste of effort for the town.   
Mr. Rafter stated USA Springs started with the Zoning Board approving a variance.  Chair Bonser 
stated the Zoning Board is required to approve an application based on limited information and 
more information should be requested.    Mr. Rafter stated despite the initial wording of the request 
and information provided on the application, the USA Springs plan was clear from the start that it 
would be a large ground water withdrawal.   
Ms. Bonser stated the Town must look at each request for a variance with more detailed scope and 
understanding before making a decision. 
Mr. Carpenter stated he agrees with Chair Rafter and Ms. Bonser. 
ADJOURNMENT: Having no further business, 
9:30 PM Motion: by Mr. Carpenter, second by Ms. Bonser to adjourn. 
Vote: 3 - 0 in favor. 
Respectfully Submitted,  

Dawn Wirkkala 



<<

  /ASCII85EncodePages false

  /AllowTransparency false

  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true

  /AutoRotatePages /None

  /Binding /Left

  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)

  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)

  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error

  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4

  /CompressObjects /Tags

  /CompressPages true

  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true

  /PassThroughJPEGImages true

  /CreateJobTicket false

  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default

  /DetectBlends true

  /DetectCurves 0.0000

  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK

  /DoThumbnails false

  /EmbedAllFonts true

  /EmbedOpenType false

  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true

  /EmbedJobOptions true

  /DSCReportingLevel 0

  /EmitDSCWarnings false

  /EndPage -1

  /ImageMemory 1048576

  /LockDistillerParams false

  /MaxSubsetPct 100

  /Optimize true

  /OPM 1

  /ParseDSCComments true

  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true

  /PreserveCopyPage true

  /PreserveDICMYKValues true

  /PreserveEPSInfo true

  /PreserveFlatness true

  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false

  /PreserveOPIComments true

  /PreserveOverprintSettings true

  /StartPage 1

  /SubsetFonts true

  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply

  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve

  /UsePrologue false

  /ColorSettingsFile ()

  /AlwaysEmbed [ true

  ]

  /NeverEmbed [ true

  ]

  /AntiAliasColorImages false

  /CropColorImages true

  /ColorImageMinResolution 300

  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleColorImages true

  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /ColorImageResolution 300

  /ColorImageDepth -1

  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1

  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeColorImages true

  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterColorImages true

  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /ColorACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /ColorImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasGrayImages false

  /CropGrayImages true

  /GrayImageMinResolution 300

  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleGrayImages true

  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /GrayImageResolution 300

  /GrayImageDepth -1

  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2

  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeGrayImages true

  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterGrayImages true

  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /GrayACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /GrayImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasMonoImages false

  /CropMonoImages true

  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200

  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleMonoImages true

  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /MonoImageResolution 1200

  /MonoImageDepth -1

  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeMonoImages true

  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode

  /MonoImageDict <<

    /K -1

  >>

  /AllowPSXObjects false

  /CheckCompliance [

    /None

  ]

  /PDFX1aCheck false

  /PDFX3Check false

  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false

  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true

  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true

  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)

  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()

  /PDFXOutputCondition ()

  /PDFXRegistryName ()

  /PDFXTrapped /False



  /CreateJDFFile false

  /Description <<



    /BGR <>

    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>

    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>

    /CZE <>

    /DAN <>

    /DEU <>

    /ESP <>

    /ETI <>

    /FRA <>

    /GRE <>



    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)

    /HUN <>

    /ITA <>

    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>

    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>

    /LTH <>

    /LVI <>

    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)

    /NOR <>

    /POL <>

    /PTB <>

    /RUM <>

    /RUS <>

    /SKY <>

    /SLV <>

    /SUO <>

    /SVE <>

    /TUR <>

    /UKR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)

  >>

  /Namespace [

    (Adobe)

    (Common)

    (1.0)

  ]

  /OtherNamespaces [

    <<

      /AsReaderSpreads false

      /CropImagesToFrames true

      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue

      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false

      /IncludeGuidesGrids false

      /IncludeNonPrinting false

      /IncludeSlug false

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (InDesign)

        (4.0)

      ]

      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false

      /OmitPlacedEPS false

      /OmitPlacedPDF false

      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy

    >>

    <<

      /AddBleedMarks false

      /AddColorBars false

      /AddCropMarks false

      /AddPageInfo false

      /AddRegMarks false

      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK

      /DestinationProfileName ()

      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /Downsample16BitImages true

      /FlattenerPreset <<

        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution

      >>

      /FormElements false

      /GenerateStructure false

      /IncludeBookmarks false

      /IncludeHyperlinks false

      /IncludeInteractive false

      /IncludeLayers false

      /IncludeProfiles false

      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (CreativeSuite)

        (2.0)

      ]

      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /PreserveEditing true

      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged

      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile

      /UseDocumentBleed false

    >>

  ]

>> setdistillerparams

<<

  /HWResolution [2400 2400]

  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]

>> setpagedevice



